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The Belhaven City Hall on the north side of Main near the intersection 
with Parnlico Street in the heart of Belhaven's business district. The City Hall, which 
sits flush with the sidewalk, is separated by a narrow alley on the east from a frame 
commercial structure; a public parking lot adjoins the building on the west and north 
sides. 

The design of the two-and-a-half story structure was fun1ished by local carpenter 
W. T. Kirk. Constructed in 1910-1911, the building is of brick laid in seven-to-one 
common bond, with a wood-shingled pediment and belfry. All windows feature large 
two-over-two sash and segmental arches. The present wooden shutters are recent 
additions. The arrangement of the fenestration is quite varied on the facade The 
entrance to the City Hall·-is through a cent:rally placed arched opening yl{hich leads. tO;. 
a wide hall running the depth of the. building· originally,. market stalls:l,ined this 
hallway. To the right of the central entrance is qn identical opening which was the 
entrance to the fire department; this has now been bricked up with a contemporary door 
and window nnit. To the left of the main entrance is a short flight of brick steps 
to the doorway leading to the second floor of the City Hall. A corbeled, two-bay 
projection at the second floor is above the main en trance; proj ettion is 'flanked -on 
either side by two windows The projection continues up the facade, breaking the 
pediment and supporting the belfry A window in the pediment flanked by small 
fan-shaped vents. The belfry has a slightly curved pyramidal roof, and the four faces 
of the belfry are identical with two pointed-arch vents with a circular vent above. 
A wide comice with large scrollwork brackets appears on the belfry, around the 
building, and in the pediment. The side elevations of the City Hall are six bays long; 
some of the first floor fenestration has been bricked in. Afire escape runs up the 
east side of the '·build'ing td ·a: door 'on the second floor. llie rear elevation is 
similar to th'at bf: the· tfront: ·but lacks :the peaiment ahd proj ecti;ng bay and has only 
the central arched opening on the t floor. Each side of the 'hip. roof, which is 
covered with asphalt shingles, is broken by large hip dormers wi t)l. di~monq -paned 
windows. ' 

The interior of the first floor has been much altered. The former market stalls 
flanking the wide center hall have been finished with plywood paneling and linoleum 
flooring to serve as to'~ offices The hallway retains plaster walls above a wainscot 
of narrow beaded sheathing. The large ar·ched openings at each end of the hall have 
been filled with double glass doors with glass surrounds. The second floor of the City 
Hall originally housed a large auditorium; today the Belhaven Memorial Museum occt~ies 
the space. The plaster walls, si~le trim, hardwood floors, and tin ceiling with a 
diamond-shaped design survive. At the north end of the room a high proscenium arch 
over a wide stage; the rear section of the stage has beep partitioned off into storage 
space. At the south end of the room is a balcony with stairs leading to the unfinished 
attic and to the belfry, which now houses the fire department siren. 
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The Belhaven City Hall has been the tmm' s IWJ.jor landmark since its construction 
in 1911. Settled in the 1880s and incorporated in 1899, Belhaven developed as a 
lumber town with the arrival of the Norfolk and Southern Railway in 1891. The City 
Hall is the most conspicuous reminder of Belhaven's tum-of-the-century prosperity as 
a ltunbering center. A.pretentious two-and.-a-half story brick structure with a belfry, 
the City Hall ~as .buil.t by C. F. J)opghty, a mason, and W • .T. K~rk, a local carpenter­
cahinetmaker. · The'buil'dmg's first floor houseq p1eat and market f)talls, the fire 
department' arid the tOWil ''clerk IS 'offiCe; t,he , SeCon'd flOOr COntained a large audi tOYiUIJl. 
Since 1954 town offices; have occupied the 'entire first· ·floor. In 1967 the Belhaven 
Memorial Musewn opened. in the auditorium. The musewn' s eclectic collection contains 
antique furniture and clothing, 30,000 buttons, a preserved eight legged pig, dressed 
fleas, and thousands of other such items of interest The City Hall-Musewn is one of 
the nine sites featured on the Historic Albemarle Tour. 

Criteria Assessment: 

A. Associated with the turn-of-the-century prosperity experienced in many parts of 
eastern North Carolina with the arrival of the railroad.and.the development of 
the lumber industry. 

B. Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a civic structure housing a public 
market, fire department, city offices, and public auditorium. The civic and 
and architectural landmark of the town, the City Hall is an tiDusually large and 
pretentious structure for a community as small as Belhaven. 

D. Is likely to yield information importEmt in the history of late nu1eteenth­
century urban settlement. 



FHR--3-Jtltl (11-7!1) 

Continuation sheet Historical Significance Item number 8 1 

Belhaven was first settled iJ1 the 1880s as Jack's Neck. In 1891 the name was changed 
to Belle Port and again in 1893 to Belhaven; the town was incorporated in 1899. 1 

During the 1890s and the first two decades of the twentieth century, Belhaven developed 
into a thriving town with its economy based on the ltrrnber industry. In 1886 the John 
L. Roper Lumber Company of Norfolk, Virginia, chartered the Albemarle and Pantego 
Railroad; in 1891 the Norfolk and Southern Railway took over the Albemarle and Pantego 
and brought rail service to Belhaven.2 With its railroad and port facilities, Belhaven 
became the center of a large-" scale lumbering industry based on thousands of acres of 
woodland in Beaufort and Hyde counties. By 1910, six lumber companies, each employing 
several hw1dred workers in logging operations and saw and planing mills, were located 
in Belhaven. The largest was the Interstate Cooperage Company, a subsidiary of the 
Standard Oil ~ompany, which produced barrels and boxes for the shipment of oil and 
oil products.3 

As a result of the town's rapid development, the Board of Aldermen issued a $10,000 
"Public Improvement Bond for building a Tovm Hall, Public Dock, and Fir~ equipment" 
in 1909; the bond was purchased by the Chase National Bank of New York. In March 
1910 a committee of three was appointed by the aldermen to secure a site for the 
town hall; the committee reported in the same month that a site could not be had without 
great expense, and recommended building the town hall on public land near the town 
dock. 5 This recmrnnendation was accepted by the aldennen, and in t-.1ay W. T. Kirk "was 
directed to submit to the board as early as possible final plans and specifications 
for the new town hall. . . "6 For unstated reasons, the aldermen decided not to build 
the town hall on public lculd; in July the tovm purchased a lot at the corner of Main 
and Union streets from T. F. Riddick for $1,500 where the town hall was built. 7 On 
2 August 1910 the "contract for Building the Town Hall lvas awarded to Mr. C. F. Doughty-­
Mr. Doughty agreeing to furnish Brick in wall at $10.25 Pr. M the town agreeing to 
pay for handling brick from car to building. Mr. W. T. Kirk to be employed to over-
see and look after the construction of the wood work on Town Hall at a salary of 
$3.50 Pr. Day."8 

Work probably began soon afterwards, and progressed rapidly. Materials for the 
building were brought to the constn1ction site by a short railroad spur of the 
Norfolk and Southern Railway. 9 By February 1911 the Tmvn was accepting bids for the 
use of the market stalls, and in March the E. H. Stafford Manufacturing Company was 
awarded the contract for furnishing opera seats in the auditorium.10 The building 
VJas finished by 28 April 1911 when the Board of Aldermen first met in the city hall; 
in May the aldermen instructed that the "City Clerk was to have use of small room 
between the meat stalls for his office."11 In addition to the 1909 public improvement 
bond, the town sold bonds wort~2 $8,500 to the Bank of Belhaven to pay for the 
construction of the city hall. 

The City Hall has housed city offices continously since its construction; today, the 
fanner market stalls have been made into offices. The Belhaven Fire Department, 
organized in 1903, was housed on the first floor unitl it moved out in 1954.13 The 
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second floor served as a public auditorium Lmtil the late 1940s when the seats were 
removed and the space used as a gymnasium. In 1967 the Belhaven Memorial Iv1useurn 
opened in the former auditorilUTl-gymnasium. The core of the museum~s collection was 
formed before 1918 by the late Mrs Eva Blount Way, and since 1967 local residents 
have contributed mLlllY items to the museum. 1\mong the holdings are 30,000 buttons, 
a preserved eight-legged pig, a watch fob made from the first Atlantic cable, dressed 
fleas, and many other artifacts and oddities The City Hall-Museum is one of the nine 
sites on the Historic Albemarle Tour. 

While the City Ball continues its important ftmction of housing city offices and the 
Belhaven Memorial Museum, its significance as an architectural lanchnark must not be 
overlooked. The architecture of Belhaven and Beaufort County was long dominated by 
frame and timber construction; the Belhaven City Hall is one of the oldest of the few 
non-commercial brick structures in Beaufort County. The vernacular quality of its late­
Victorian stylistic features is enhanced by the thorough documentation of the building':s 
designer, contractor, and construction. Although it could not be stated the City Hall 
influenced the architecture of Belhaven, does represent the best attempt at high--
style architectural design in Belhaven at the turn-of-the-century. 

The structure is, of course, closely related to the surrounding environment. Arch­
eological remains, such as trash pits, wells, and structural remains, which may be 
present, can provide information valuable to the understanding and interpretation of 
the structure. Infonnation concen1ing use patterns, social standing and mobility, as 
well as structural details are often only evident in the archeological record. There·~ 
fore, archeological remains may well be an important component of the significance of 
the structure. At this time no investigation has been done to discover these remains, 
but it is probable that they exist, and this should be considered in any development 
of the property. 
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